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been publicly announced by candidate Trump. Statement of Offense J 25-26, United States v.
George Papadopoulos, No. 1:17-cr-182 (D.D.C. Oct. 5, 2017), Doc. 19 (“Papadopoulos Statement
of Offense”).

Papadopoulos also made false statements in an effort to minimize the extent and
importance of his communications with Mifsud. For example, Papadopoulos stated that
“[Mifsud]’s a nothing,” that he thought Mifsud was “just a guy talk[ing] up connections or

something,”andthat he believed Mifsud was “BS’ing to be completely honest with you.” In fact,
however, Papadopoulos understood Mifsud to have substantial connections to high-level Russian
governmentofficials and that Mifsud spoke with someofthose officials in Moscow beforetelling
Papadopoulos aboutthe “dirt.” Papadopoulos also engaged in extensive communications over a
period of months with Mifsud about foreign policy issues for the Campaign, including efforts to
arrange a “history making” meeting between the Campaign and Russian governmentofficials. In
addition, Papadopoulosfailed to inform investigators that Mifsud had introduced him to Timofeev,
the Russian national who Papadopoulos understood to be connected to the Russian Ministry of
Foreign Affairs, despite being asked if he had met with Russian nationals or “[aJnyone with a
Russian accent” during the campaign. Papadopoulos Statement of Offense 4 27-29.

Papadopoulosalsofalsely claimed that he met Polonskaya before he joined the Campaign,
and falsely told the FBI that he had “no”relationship at all with her. He stated that the extent of
their communications was her sending emails—“Just, ‘Hi, how are you?’ That’s it.” In truth,

however, Papadopoulos met Polonskaya on March 24, 2016, after he had joined the Campaign; he
believed that she had connections to high-level Russian governmentofficials and could help him
arrange a potential foreign policy trip to Russia. During the campaign he emailed and spoke with
her over Skype on numerous occasions about the potential foreign policy trip to Russia.
Papadopoulos Statement of Offense ff 30-31.

Papadopoulos’s false statements in January 2017 impeded the FBI’s investigation into
Russian interference in the 2016 presidential election. Most immediately, those statements
hindered investigators’ ability to effectively question Mifsud when he wasinterviewedin the lobby
of a Washington, D.C. hotel on February 10, 2017. See Gov’t Sent. Mem.at 6, UnitedStates v.

George Papadopoulos, No. 1:17-cr-182 (D.D.C. Aug. 18, 2017), Doc. 44. During that interview,

Mifsud admitted to knowing Papadopoulos and to having introduced him to Polonskaya and
Timofeev. But Mifsud denied that he had advance knowledge that Russia was in possession of

emails damaging to candidate Clinton, stating that he and Papadopoulos had discussed

cybersecurity and hacking as a larger issue and that Papadopoulos must have misunderstoodtheir
conversation. Mifsud also falsely stated that he had not seen Papadopoulossince the meeting at
which Mifsud introduced him to Polonskaya, even though emails, text messages, and other
information show that Mifsud met with Papadopoulos onat least two other occasions—April 12
and April 26, 2016. In addition, Mifsud omitted that he had drafted (or edited) the follow-up
message that Polonskaya sent to Papadopoulosfollowing the initial meeting and that, as reflected
in the language of that email chain (“Baby, thank you!”), Mifsud may have been involved in a

personal relationship with Polonskaya at the time. The false information and omissions in
Papadopoulos’s January 2017 interview undermined investigators’ ability to challenge Mifsud
when he madethese inaccurate statements.
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Given the seriousnessofthe lies and omissionsandtheir effect on the FBI’s investigation,
the Office charged Papadopoulos with makingfalse statements to the FBI,in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§ 1001. Information, United States v. George Papadopoulos, No. 1:17-cr-182 (D.D.C. Oct.3,

2017), Doc. 8. On October 7, 2017, Papadopoulos pleaded guilty to that charge pursuantto a plea
agreement. On September7, 2018, he was sentenced to 14 days of imprisonment, a $9,500 fine,

and 200 hours of community service.

 

iii. Michael Flynn

Michael Flynn agreedto be interviewed by the FBI on January 24, 2017, four days after he
had officially assumed his duties as National Security Advisor to the President. During the
interview, Flynn madeseveralfalse statements pertaining to his communications with the Russian

ambassador.

First, Flynn made two false statements about his conversations with Russian Ambassador
Kislyakin late December 2016, at a time when the United States had imposed sanctions on Russia
for interfering with the 2016 presidential election and Russia was considering its response. See
Flynn Statement of Offense. Flynn told the agents that he did not ask Kislyak to refrain from
escalating the situation in response to the United States’s imposition of sanctions. That statement
wasfalse. On December 29, 2016, Flynncalled Kislyak to request Russianrestraint. Flynn made
the call immediately after speaking to a senior Transition Team official (K.T. McFarland) about

what to communicate to Kislyak. Flynn then spoke with McFarland againafter the Kislyak call to
report on the substance of that conversation. Flynn also falsely told the FBI that he did not
remembera follow-up conversation in which Kislyak stated that Russia had chosen to moderate
its response to the U.S. sanctions as a result of Flynn’s request. On December 31, 2016, Flynn in
fact had such a conversation with Kislyak, and he again spoke with McFarland within hours ofthe
call to relay the substance of his conversation with Kislyak. See Flynn Statement of Offense {| 3.
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Second, Flynn madefalse statements aboutcalls he had previously made to representatives
of Russia and other countries regarding a resolution submitted by Egypt to the United Nations

Security Council on December 21, 2016. Specifically, Flynn stated that he only asked the
countries’ positions on how they would vote on the resolution and that he did not request that any
of the countries take any particular action on the resolution. That statement was false. On
December22, 2016, Flynn called Kislyak, informed him ofthe incoming Trump Administration’s
opposition to the resolution, and requested that Russia vote against or delay the resolution. Flynn
also falsely stated that Kislyak never described Russia’s response to his December 22 request
regarding the resolution. Kislyakin fact told Flynn in a conversation on December 23, 2016, that
Russia would not vote against the resolutionif it came to a vote. See Flynn Statement of Offense
44.

Flynn madethese false statements to the FBI at a time when he wasserving as National
Security Advisor and whenthe FBI had anopen investigation into Russian interference in the 2016
presidential election, including the nature of any links between the Trump Campaign and Russia.
Flynn’s false statements and omissions impeded and otherwise had a material impact on that
ongoing investigation. Flynn Statement of Offense f{ 1-2. They also came shortly before Flynn
made separate submissions to the Departmentof Justice, pursuant to FARA,that also contained
materially false statements and omissions. Jd. | 5. Based onthetotality of that conduct, the Office
decided to charge Flynn with making false statements to the FBI, in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§ 1001(a). On December 1, 2017, and pursuant to a plea agreement, Flynn pleaded guilty to that
charge and also admitted his false statements to the Department in his FARA filing. See id.; Plea
Agreement, United States v. Michael T. Flynn, No. 1:17-cr-232 (D.D.C. Dec. 1, 2017), Doc. 3.

Flynn is awaiting sentencing.

iv. Michael Cohen

Michael Cohen was the executive vice president and special counsel to the Trump
Organization when Trump waspresident of the Trump Organization. Information 1, United
States v. Cohen, No. 1:18-cr-850 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 29, 2018), Doc. 2 (“Cohen Information”). From

the fall of 2015 through approximately June 2016, Cohen wasinvolved in a project to build a
Trump-branded tower and adjoining development in Moscow. The project was known as Trump
Tower Moscow.

In 2017, Cohen wascalled to testify before the House Permanent Select Committee on
Intelligence (HPSCI) and the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence (SSCI), both ofwhich were
investigating Russian interference in the 2016 presidential election and possible links between
Russia and the presidential campaigns. In late August 2017, in advance of his testimony, Cohen
caused a two-page statement to be sent to SSCI and HPSCI addressing Trump Tower Moscow.
Cohen Information {J 2-3. The letter contained three representations relevant here. First, Cohen
stated that the Trump Moscowproject had ended in January 2016 andthat he had briefed candidate
Trump on the project only three times before making the unilateral decision to terminate it.
Second, Cohen represented that he never agreed to travel to Russia in connection with the project
and never considered asking Trump totravel for the project. Third, Cohen stated that he did not
recall any Russian government contact about the project, including any response to an email that
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he had sent to a Russian government email account. Cohen Information J 4. Cohen later asked
that his two-page statement be incorporated into his testimony’s transcript before SSCI, and he
ultimately gave testimony to SSCIthat was consistent with that statement. Cohen Information { 5.

Each of the foregoing representations in Cohen’s two-page statement was false and

misleading. Consideration of the project had extended through approximately June 2016 and
included more than three progress reports from Cohen to Trump. Cohen had discussed with Felix
Sater his owntravel to Russia as part of the project, and he had inquired aboutthe possibility of
Trumptraveling there—both with the candidate himself and with senior campaign official Corey
Lewandowski. Cohendidrecall that he had received a response to the email that he sent to Russian
government spokesman Dmitry Peskov—inparticular, that he received an email reply and had a
follow-up phone conversation with an English-speaking assistant to Peskov in mid-January 2016.
Cohen Information 47. Cohen knew the statements in the letter to be false at the time, and
admitted that he made them in an effort (1) to minimize the links between the project and Trump
(who bythis time was President), and (2) to give the false impression that the project had ended

before the first vote in the Republican Party primary process, in the hopesof limiting the ongoing
Russia investigations. Id.

Giventhenature ofthe false statements and the fact that he repeated them duringhisinitial
interview with the Office, we charged Cohen withviolating Section 1001. On November29, 2018,

Cohen pleaded guilty pursuant to a plea agreement to a single-count information charging him
with making false statements in a matter within the jurisdiction of the legislative branch, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(2) and (c). Cohen Information. The case was transferred to the

district judge presiding over the separate prosecution of Cohen pursued by the Southern District
of New York(after a referral from our Office). On December 7, 2018, this Office submitted a
letter to that judge recommending that Cohen’s cooperation with our investigation be taken into
account in sentencing Cohen onboththe false-statements charge and the offenses in the Southern
District prosecution. On December 12, 2018, the judge sentenced Cohen to two months of

imprisonment on the false-statements count, to run concurrently with a 36-month sentence
imposed on the other counts.

:
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Harm to Ongoing Matter

Harm to Ongoing Matter

Harm to Ongoing Matter 
vi. JeffSessions

Asset forth in VolumeI, Section IV.A.6, supra,the investigation established that, while a

U.S. Senator and a Trump Campaign advisor, former Attorney General Jeff Sessions interacted
with Russian AmbassadorKislyak during the week ofthe Republican National Convention in July
2016 and again at a meeting in Sessions’s Senateoffice in September 2016. The investigation also
established that Sessions and Kislyak both attended a reception held before candidate Trump’s
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foreign policy speech at the Mayflower Hotel in Washington, D.C., in April 2016, and thatit is
possible that they metbriefly at that reception.

The Office considered whether,in light of these interactions, Sessions committed perjury
before, or made false statements to, Congress in connection with his confirmation as Attorney

General. In January 2017 testimony during his confirmation hearing, Sessions stated in response
to a question about Trump Campaign communications with the Russian government that he had
“been called a surrogate at a time or two in that campaign and I didn’t have — did not have

communications with the Russians.” In written responses submitted on January 17, 2017, Sessions
answered “[n]o” to a question asking whether he had “been in contact with anyone connected to

any part of the Russian government about the 2016 election, either before orafter election day.”
And, in a March 2017 supplementto his testimony, Sessionsidentified two ofthe campaign-period
contacts with Ambassador Kislyak noted above, which had been reported in the media following
the January 2017 confirmation hearing. Sessions stated in the supplemental response that he did
“not recall any discussions with the Russian Ambassador, or any other representatives of the
Russian government, regarding thepolitical campaign on these occasionsor any other occasion.”

Although the investigation established that Sessions interacted with Kislyak on the
occasions described above and that Kislyak mentioned the presidential campaign on at least one
occasion, the evidence is not sufficient to prove that Sessions gave knowingly false answers to
Russia-related questions in light of the wording and context of those questions. With respect to
Sessions’s statements that he did “not recall any discussions with the Russian Ambassador.. .
regarding the political campaign” and he had not been in contact with any Russianofficial “about
the 2016 election,” the evidence concerning the nature of Sessions’s interactions with Kislyak
makesit plausible that Sessions did not recall discussing the campaign with Kislyak at the time of
his statements. Similarly, while Sessions stated in his January 2017 oral testimony that he “did

not have communications with Russians,” he did so in response to a question that had linked such

communications to an alleged “continuing exchange of information” between the Trump
Campaign and Russian governmentintermediaries. Sessions later explained to the Senate and to
the Office that he understood the question as narrowly calling for disclosure of interactions with
Russiansthat involved the exchange of campaign information, as distinguished from more routine
contacts with Russian nationals. Given the context in which the question was asked, that
understanding is plausible.

Accordingly,the Office concludedthat the evidence wasinsufficient to prove that Sessions
waswillfully untruthful in his answers and thus insufficient to obtain or sustain a conviction for
perjury or false statements. Consistent with the Principles of Federal Prosecution, the Office
therefore determined not to pursue charges against Sessions and informed his counsel of that
decision in March 2018.

vii. Others Interviewed During the Investigation

The Office considered whether, during the course of the investigation, other individuals
interviewed either omitted material information or provided information determined to be false.
Applying the Principles of Federal Prosecution, the Office did not seek criminal charges against
any individuals other than those listed above. In some instances, that decision was due to
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evidentiary hurdles to proving falsity. In others, the Office determined that the witness ultimately
provided truthful information and that considerations of culpability, deterrence, and_resource-

i 9-27.220, 9-27.230.   

gGrand Jury

Grand Jury

 

Grand Uury
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INTRODUCTION TO VOLUMEIT

This report is submitted to the Attorney General pursuant to 28 C.F.R. § 600.8(c), which
states that, “[a]t the conclusion of the Special Counsel’s work, he . . . shall provide the Attorney

General a confidential report explaining the prosecution or declination decisions [the Special

Counsel] reached.”

Beginning in 2017,the President of the United States took a variety of actions towards the

ongoing FBIinvestigation into Russia’s interference in the 2016 presidential election and related

matters that raised questions about whether he had obstructed justice. The Order appointing the
Special Counsel gave this Office jurisdiction to investigate matters that arose directly from the

FBI’s Russia investigation, including whether the President had obstructed justice in connection

with Russia-related investigations. The Special Counsel’s jurisdiction also covered potentially

obstructive acts related to the Special Counsel’s investigation itself. This Volume of our report

summarizes our obstruction-of-justice investigation of the President.

Wefirst describe the considerations that guided our obstruction-of-justice investigation,

and then provide an overview ofthis Volume:

First, a traditional prosecution or declination decision entails a binary determination to

initiate or decline a prosecution, but we determined not to make a traditional prosecutorial
judgment. The Office of Legal Counsel (OLC) hasissued an opinion finding that “the indictment

or criminal prosecutionofa sitting President would impermissibly undermine the capacity of the

executive branch to perform its constitutionally assigned functions” in violation of “the

constitutional separation of powers.”! Giventhe role of the Special Counselas an attorney in the
Departmentof Justice and the framework of the Special Counsel regulations, see 28 U.S.C. § 515;

28 C.F.R. § 600.7(a), this Office accepted OLC’s legal conclusion for the purpose of exercising

prosecutorial jurisdiction. And apart from OLC’sconstitutional view, we recognizedthat a federal

criminal accusation against a sitting President would place burdens on the President’s capacity to

govern andpotentially preempt constitutional processes for addressing presidential misconduct.”

Second, while the OLC opinion concludesthat a sitting President may not be prosecuted,

it recognizes that a criminal investigation during the President’s term is permissible The OLC
opinion also recognizes that a President does not have immunity after he leaves office.4 And if
individuals other than the President committed an obstruction offense, they may be prosecuted at

this time. Given those considerations, the facts known to us, and the strong public interest in

' 4 Sitting President’s Amenability to Indictment and Criminal Prosecution, 24 Op. O.L.C.222,
222, 260 (2000) (OLC Op.).

2 See U.S. CONST. Art. I § 2, cl. 5; § 3, cl. 6; cf OLC Op.at 257-258 (discussing relationship

between impeachmentand criminal prosecutionof a sitting President).

> OLC Op.at 257 n.36 (“A grand jury could continue to gather evidence throughoutthe period of
immunity”).

* OLC Op.at 255 (“Recognizing an immunity from prosecution for a sitting President would not

preclude such prosecution once the President’s term is over or he is otherwise removed from office by
resignation or impeachment”).
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safeguarding the integrity of the criminal justice system, we conducted a thorough factual

* investigation in order to preserve the evidence when memories were fresh and documentary

materials were available.

Third, we considered whether to evaluate the conduct we investigated under the Justice

Manual standards governing prosecution and declination decisions, but we determinednot to apply

an approachthat could potentially result in a judgment that the President committed crimes. The

threshold step under the Justice Manual standards is to assess whether a person’s conduct

“constitutes a federal offense.” U.S. Dep’t of Justice, Justice Manual § 9-27.220 (2018) (Justice

Manual). Fairness concerns counseled against potentially reaching thatjudgment when no charges

can be brought. The ordinary means for an individual to respond to an accusation is through a

speedy and public trial, with all the procedural protections that surround a criminal case. An

individual whobelieves he was wrongly accused can use that process to seek to clear his name. In

contrast, a prosecutor’s judgmentthat crimes were committed, but that no charges will be brought,
affords no such adversarial opportunity for public name-clearing before an impartial adjudicator.5

The concerns about the fairness of such a determination would be heightened in the case

ofa sitting President, where a federal prosecutor’s accusation of a crime, even in an internal report,

could carry consequencesthat extend beyond the realm of criminal justice. OLC noted similar

concerns aboutsealed indictments. Even if an indictment were sealed during the President’s term,

OLC reasoned, “it would be very difficult to preserve [an indictment’s] secrecy,” and if an

indictment becamepublic, “[t]he stigma and opprobrium” could imperil the President’s ability to

govern.”6 Although a prosecutor’s internal report would not represent a formal public accusation
akin to an indictment, the possibility of the report’s public disclosure and the absenceof a neutral

adjudicatory forum to review its findings counseled against potentially determining “that the

person’s conduct constitutes a federal offense.” Justice Manual § 9-27.220.

Fourth, if we had confidence after a thorough investigation of the facts that the President

clearly did not commit obstruction of justice, we would so state. Based on the facts and the
applicable legal standards, however, we are unable to reach that judgment. The evidence we

obtained about the President’s actions and intent presents difficult issues that prevent us from
conclusively determining that no criminal conduct occurred. Accordingly, while this report does

not concludethat the President committed a crime, it also does not exonerate him.

* * #

This report on our investigation consists of four parts. Section I provides an overview of

obstruction-of-justice principles and summarizes certain investigatory and evidentiary

considerations. Section II sets forth the factual results of our obstruction investigation and

analyzes the evidence. Section III addresses statutory and constitutional defenses. Section IV

states our conclusion.

> For that reason, criticisms have been lodged against the practice of naming unindicted co-
conspirators in an indictment. See United States v. Briggs, 514 F.2d 794, 802 (Sth Cir. 1975) (“The courts
have struck down with strong language efforts by grand juries to accuse persons of crime while affording
them no forum in which to vindicate themselves.”); see also Justice Manual § 9-11.130.

§ OLC Op.at 259 & n.38 (citation omitted).
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARYTO VOLUMEII

Our obstruction-of-justice inquiry focused on a series of actions by the President that
related to the Russian-interference investigations, including the President’s conduct towards the
law enforcementofficials overseeing the investigations and the witnesses to relevant events.

FACTUAL RESULTS OF THE OBSTRUCTION INVESTIGATION

The key issues and events we examined include the following:

The Campaign’s responseto reports about Russian supportfor Trump. During the 2016

presidential campaign, questions arose about the Russian government’s apparent support for

candidate Trump. After WikiLeaks released politically damaging Democratic Party emails that

were reported to have been hacked by Russia, Trump publicly expressed skepticism that Russia

was responsible for the hacks at the same time that he and other Campaign officials privately

sought information about any further planned WikiLeaks

releases. Trumpalso denied having any business in or connections to Russia, even thoughaslate
as June 2016 the Trump Organization had been pursuing a licensing deal for a skyscraper to be

built in Russia called Trump Tower Moscow. After the election, the President expressed concerns
to advisors that reports of Russia’s election interference might lead the public to question the

legitimacyofhis election.

Conduct involving FBI Director Comey and Michael Flynn. In mid-January 2017,

incoming National Security Advisor Michael Flynn falsely denied to the Vice President, other
administration officials, and FBI agents that he had talked to Russian Ambassador Sergey Kislyak

about Russia’s response to U.S. sanctions on Russia for its election interference. On January 27,
the day after the President wastold that Flynn hadlied to the Vice President and had made similar

statements to the FBI, the President invited FBI Director Comeyto a private dinner at the White

House and told Comey that he needed loyalty. On February 14, the day after the President

requested Flynn’s resignation, the President told an outside advisor, “Now that wefired Flynn,the

Russia thing is over.” The advisor disagreed andsaid the investigations would continue.

Later that afternoon, the President cleared the Oval Office to have a one-on-one meeting

with Comey. Referring to the FBI’s investigation of Flynn, the President said, “I hope you can

see your waycleartoletting this go,to letting Flynn go. He is a good guy. I hope you canletthis

go.” Shortly after requesting Flynn’s resignation and speaking privately to Comey, the President

sought to have Deputy National Security Advisor K.T. McFarland draft an internal letter stating

that the President had not directed Flynn to discuss sanctions with Kislyak. McFarland declined
because she did not know whether that was true, and a White House Counsel’s Office attorney
thoughtthat the request would look like a quid pro quo for an ambassadorship she had been offered.

The President’s reaction to the continuing Russia investigation. In February 2017,

Attorney General Jeff Sessions began to assess whether he had to recuse himself from campaign-

related investigations because of his role in the Trump Campaign. In early March, the President
told White House Counsel Donald McGahnto stop Sessions from recusing. And after Sessions

announcedhis recusal on March 2,the President expressed angerat the decision and told advisors

that he should have an Attorney General who would protect him. That weekend, the President

took Sessions aside at an event and urged him to “unrecuse.” Later in March, Comey publicly
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disclosed at a congressional hearing that the FBI was investigating “the Russian government’s

efforts to interfere in the 2016 presidential election,” including anylinks or coordination between

the Russian governmentand the Trump Campaign. In the following days, the President reached
out to the Director of National Intelligence and the leaders of the Central Intelligence Agency

(CIA) and the National Security Agency (NSA)to ask them what they could doto publicly dispel
the suggestion that the President had any connection to the Russian election-interference effort.

The President also twice called Comeydirectly, notwithstanding guidance from McGahnto avoid
direct contacts with the Department of Justice. Comey had previously assured the Presidentthat

the FBI wasnotinvestigating him personally, and the President asked Comey to“lift the cloud”

of the Russia investigation by saying that publicly.

The President’s termination of Comey. On May 3, 2017, Comeytestified in a

congressional hearing, but declined to answer questions about whether the President was

personally underinvestigation. Within days, the President decided to terminate Comey. The
President insisted that the termination letter, which was written for public release, state that Comey

had informed the President that he was not under investigation. The dayofthe firing, the White

House maintained that Comey’stermination resulted from independent recommendationsfrom the

Attorney General and Deputy Attorney General that Comey should be discharged for mishandling

the Hillary Clinton email investigation. But the President had decided to fire Comey before

hearing from the Departmentof Justice. The day after firing Comey, the President told Russian
officials that he had “faced great pressure because of Russia,” which had been “taken offby

Comey’sfiring. The next day, the President acknowledgedin a television interview that he was
going to fire Comey regardless of the Departmentof Justice’s recommendation and that when he

“decided to just doit,” he was thinking that “this thing with Trump and Russia is a made-upstory.”
In responseto a question about whether he was angry with Comey about the Russia investigation,

the President said, “As far as I’m concerned, I wantthat thing to be absolutely done properly,”

addingthat firing Comey “might even lengthen outthe investigation.”

The appointmentofa Special Counselandefforts to remove him. On May 17, 2017, the

Acting Attorney General for the Russia investigation appointed a Special Counsel to conductthe
investigation and related matters. The President reacted to news that a Special Counsel had been

appointedbytelling advisors that it was “the end of his presidency” and demanding that Sessions

resign. Sessions submitted his resignation, but the President ultimately did not accept it. The
Presidenttold aides that the Special Counsel hadconflicts of interest and suggested that the Special
Counsel therefore could not serve. The President’s advisors told him the asserted conflicts were
meritless and had already been considered by the Departmentof Justice.

On June 14, 2017, the media reported that the Special Counsel’s Office was investigating
whetherthe President had obstructed justice. Press reports called this “a major turning point”in

the investigation: while Comey had told the President he was not under investigation, following
Comey’sfiring, the President now was under investigation. The President reacted to this news

with a series of tweets criticizing the Department of Justice and the Special Counsel’s
investigation. On June 17, 2017, the President called McGahn at homeand directed him tocall

the Acting Attorney Generalandsay that the Special Counselhadconflicts of interest and must be
removed. McGahndid notcarry outthe direction, however, deciding that he would resign rather
than trigger what he regardedas a potential Saturday Night Massacre.



U.S. Department ofJustice

Attorney-WorkPredtet //Protected

Efforts to curtail the Special Counsel’s investigation. Two daysafter directing McGahn

to have the Special Counsel removed, the President made another attemptto affect the course of

the Russia investigation. On June 19, 2017, the President met one-on-one in the Oval Office with

his former campaign manager Corey Lewandowski, a trusted advisor outside the government, and

dictated a message for Lewandowskito deliver to Sessions. The messagesaid that Sessions should

publicly announcethat, notwithstandinghis recusal from the Russia investigation, the investigation

was“very unfair” to the President, the President had done nothing wrong, and Sessions planned to

meet with the Special Counsel and “let [him] move forward with investigating election meddling

for future elections.” Lewandowski said he understood what the President wanted Sessionsto do.

One month later, in another private meeting with Lewandowski on July 19, 2017, the

President asked about the status of his message for Sessions to limit the Special Counsel
investigation to future election interference. Lewandowskitold the President that the message
would be delivered soon. Hours after that meeting, the Presidentpublicly criticized Sessionsin an

interview with the New York Times, and then issued a series of tweets making it clear that

Sessions’s job was in jeopardy. Lewandowski did not want to deliver the President’s message
personally, so he asked senior White House official Rick Dearborn to deliver it to Sessions.

Dearborn was uncomfortable with the task and did not follow through.

Efforts to prevent public disclosure of evidence. In the summerof 2017, the President

learned that media outlets were asking questions about the June 9, 2016 meeting at Trump Tower

between senior campaign officials, including Donald Trump Jr., and a Russian lawyer who was
said to be offering damaging information about Hillary Clinton as “part of Russia and its
government’s support for Mr. Trump.” On several occasions, the President directed aides not to

publicly disclose the emails setting up the June 9 meeting, suggesting that the emails would not

leak and that the number of lawyers with access to them should be limited. Before the emails

became public, the President edited a press statement for Trump Jr. by deleting a line that
acknowledged that the meeting was with “an individual who [Trump Jr.] was told might have

information helpful to the campaign”and instead said only that the meeting was about adoptions
of Russian children. When the press asked questions about the President’s involvement in Trump

Jr.’s statement, the President’s personal lawyer repeatedly denied the President had played any
role.

Furtherefforts to have the Attorney Generaltake controlofthe investigation. In early

summer 2017, the President called Sessions at home and again asked him to reverse his recusal

from the Russia investigation. Sessions did not reverse his recusal. In October 2017, the President

metprivately with Sessions in the Oval Office and asked him to “take [a] look”at investigating

Clinton. In December 2017, shortly after Flynn pleaded guilty pursuant to a cooperation

agreement, the President met with Sessions in the Oval Office and suggested, according to notes

taken by a senior advisor, that if Sessions unrecused and took back supervision of the Russia

investigation, he would be a “hero.” The President told Sessions, “I’m not going to do anything
or direct you to do anything. I just want to be treated fairly.” In response, Sessions volunteered

that he had never seen anything “improper” on the campaign andtold the President there was a
“whole new leadership team” in place. He did not unrecuse.

Efforts to have McGahndeny that the President had ordered him to have the Special

Counsel removed. In early 2018, the press reported that the President had directed McGahn to
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have the Special Counsel removed in June 2017 and that McGahn hadthreatened to resign rather
than carry out the order. The President reacted to the newsstories by directing White House

officials to tell McGahn to dispute the story and create a record stating he had not been ordered to
have the Special Counsel removed. McGahntold those officials that the media reports were
accurate in stating that the President had directed McGahnto have the Special Counsel removed.
The President then met with McGahn in the Oval Office and again pressured him to deny the

reports. In the same meeting, the President also asked McGahn whyhe had told the Special

Counsel about the President’s effort to remove the Special Counsel and why McGahntook notes
of his conversations with the President. McGahn refused to back away from what he remembered

happening and perceived the Presidentto be testing his mettle.

Conduct towards Flynn, Manafort,DO. After Flynn withdrew from a joint defense

agreementwith the President and began cooperating with the government, the President’s personal

counsel left a message for Flynn’s attorneys reminding them of the President’s warm feelings

towards Flynn, which he said “still remains,” and asking for a “heads up” if Flynn knew
“information that implicates the President.” When Flynn’s counsel reiterated that Flynn could no
longer share information pursuantto a joint defense agreement, the President’s personal counsel

said he would makesure that the President knew that Flynn’s actions reflected “hostility” towards
the President. During Manafort’s prosecution and when the jury in his criminal, trial was

deliberating, the President praised Manafort in public, said that Manafort was being treated

unfairly, and declined to rule out a pardon. After Manafort was convicted, the President called

Manafort “a brave man” for refusing to “break” and said that “flipping” “almost ought to be
outlawed.” GETRCM elevate wmEvacre
   

Conduct involving Michael Cohen. The President’s conduct towards Michael Cohen, a
former Trump Organization executive, changed from praise for Cohen whenhe falsely minimized

the President’s involvement in the Trump Tower Moscowproject, to castigation of Cohen when

he became a cooperating witness. From September 2015 to June 2016, Cohen had pursued the

Trump Tower Moscowproject on behalf of the Trump Organization and had briefed candidate
Trumponthe project numeroustimes, including discussing whether Trump shouldtravel to Russia

to advance the deal. In 2017, Cohen provided false testimony to Congress about the project,
including stating that he had only briefed Trump on the project three times and never discussed
travel to Russia with him, in an effort to adhereto a “party line” that Cohen said was developed to
minimizethe President’s connections to Russia. While preparing for his congressional testimony,

Cohenhad extensive discussions with the President’s personal counsel, who, according to Cohen,

said that Cohen should “stay on message” and not contradict the President. After the FBI searched
Cohen’s homeand office in April 2018, the President publicly asserted that Cohen would not

“flip,” contacted him directly to tell him to “stay strong,” and privately passed messagesofsupport
to him. Cohen also discussed pardons with the President’s personal counsel and believed that if

he stayed on message he would be taken care of. But after Cohen began cooperating with the

governmentin the summerof 2018,the President publicly criticized him, called him a “rat,” and

suggested that his family members had committed crimes.
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Overarching factual issues. We did not makea traditional prosecution decision about

these facts, but the evidence weobtained supports several general statements about the President’s

conduct.

Several features of the conduct we investigated distinguish it from typical obstruction-of-
justice cases. First, the investigation concerned the President, and someof his actions, such as

firing the FBI director, involved facially lawful acts within his Article IT authority, which raises

constitutional issues discussed below. At the same time, the President’s position as the head of

the Executive Branch provided him with unique and powerful means of influencing official

proceedings, subordinate officers, and potential witnesses—all of which is relevant to a potential

obstruction-of-justice analysis. Second, unlike cases in which a subject engages in obstruction of
justice to cover up a crime, the evidence we obtained did not establish that the President was

involved in an underlying crimerelated to Russianelection interference. Although the obstruction
statutes do not require proof of such a crime, the absence of that evidence affects the analysis of
the President’s intent and requires consideration of other possible motives for his conduct. Third,

manyofthe President’s acts directed at witnesses, including discouragement of cooperation with

the government and suggestions of possible future pardons, took place in public view. That
circumstance is unusual, but no principle of law excludes public acts from the reach of the

obstruction laws. Ifthe likely effect of public acts is to influence witnessesoralter their testimony,

the harm to the justice system’s integrity is the same.

Althoughthe series of events we investigated involved discrete acts, the overall pattern of

the President’s conduct towards the investigations can shed light on the nature of the President’s
acts andthe inferences that can be drawn abouthis intent. In particular, the actions we investigated

can be divided into two phases, reflecting a possible shift in the President’s motives. The first
phase covered the period from the President’s first interactions with Comey through the President’s
firing of Comey. During that time, the President had been repeatedly told he was not personally

underinvestigation. Soonafter the firing of Comey and the appointmentof the Special Counsel,

however, the President became aware that his own conduct was being investigated in an
obstruction-of-justice inquiry. At that point, the President engaged in a second phase of conduct,

involving public attacks on the investigation, non-public efforts to control it, and efforts in both
public and private to encourage witnessesnotto cooperate with the investigation. Judgments about

the nature ofthe President’s motives during each phase would be informed by the totality of the

evidence.

STATUTORY AND CONSTITUTIONAL DEFENSES

The President’s counsel raised statutory and constitutional defenses to a possible

obstruction-of-justice analysis of the conduct we investigated. We concluded that none of those

legal defenses provided a basis for declining to investigate the facts.

Statutory defenses. Consistent with precedent and the Department of Justice’s general

approach tointerpreting obstruction statutes, we concluded that several statutes could apply here.

See 18 U.S.C. §§ 1503, 1505, 1512(b)(3), 1512(c)(2). Section 1512(c)(2) is an omnibus
obstruction-of-justice provision that covers a range of obstructive acts directed at pending or

contemplated official proceedings. Noprinciple of statutory construction justifies narrowing the

provision to cover only conduct that impairs the integrity or availability of evidence. Sections
1503 and 1505also offer broad protection against obstructive acts directed at pending grand jury,

7
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judicial, administrative, and congressional proceedings, and they are supplemented by a provision

in Section 1512(b) aimed specifically at conduct intended to preventor hinder the communication
to law enforcementof information related to a federal crime.

Constitutional defenses. Asfor constitutional defenses arising from the President’s status

as the headofthe Executive Branch, we recognized that the Departmentof Justice and the courts
have not. definitively resolved these issues. We therefore examined those issues through the

framework established by Supreme Court precedent governing separation-of-powers issues. The

DepartmentofJustice and the President’s personal counsel have recognized that the Presidentis
subject to statutes that prohibit obstruction of justice by bribing a witness or suborning perjury

because that conduct does not implicate his constitutional authority. With respect to whether the
President can be found to have obstructed justice by exercising his powers underArticle II of the

Constitution, we concluded that Congress hasauthority to prohibit a President’s corrupt use of his

authority in order to protect the integrity of the administration ofjustice.

Under applicable Supreme Court precedent, the Constitution does not categorically and

permanently immunize a President for obstructing justice throughthe use of his Article II powers.

The separation-of-powers doctrine authorizes Congress to protect official proceedings, including

those of courts and grand juries, from corrupt, obstructive acts regardlessoftheir source. We also
concludedthat any inroad onpresidential authority that would occur from prohibiting corruptacts
does not undermine the President’s ability to fulfill his constitutional mission. The term

“corruptly” sets a demanding standard. It requires a concrete showingthat a person acted with an

intent to obtain an improper advantage for himself or someoneelse, inconsistent with official duty

and therights of others. A preclusion of “corrupt”official action does not diminish the President’s

ability to exercise Article Il powers. For example, the proper supervision ofcriminal law does not

demandfreedom for the Presidentto act with a corrupt intention ofshielding himself from criminal
punishment, avoiding financialliability, or preventing personal embarrassment. To the contrary,

a statute that prohibits official action undertaken for such corrupt purposes furthers, rather than

hinders, the impartial and evenhanded administration of the law. It also aligns with the President’s
constitutional duty to faithfully execute the laws. Finally, we concluded that in the rare case in

which a criminal investigation of the President’s conduct is justified, inquiries to determine

whether the President acted for a corrupt motive should not impermissibly chill his performance
of his constitutionally assigned duties. The conclusion that Congress may apply the obstruction

laws to the President’s corrupt exercise of the powers of office accords with our constitutional

system of checks and balances andtheprinciple that no person is abovethe law.

CONCLUSION

Because we determined not to makea traditional prosecutorial judgment, we did not draw

ultimate conclusions about the President’s conduct. The evidence we obtained about the
President’s actions and intent presents difficult issues that would need to be resolved if we were

making traditional prosecutorial judgment. At the same time, if we had confidence after a
thorough investigation ofthe facts that the President clearly did not commit obstruction ofjustice,
we would so state. Based on thefacts and the applicable legal standards, we are unable to reach

that judgment. Accordingly, while this report does not conclude that the President committed a

crime, it also does not exonerate him.
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I. BACKGROUND LEGAL AND EVIDENTIARY PRINCIPLES

A. Legal Framework of Obstruction of Justice

The May 17, 2017 Appointment Order and the Special Counsel regulations provide this

Office with jurisdiction to investigate “federal crimes committed in the course of, and with intent

to interfere with, the Special Counsel's investigation, such as perjury, obstruction of justice,

destruction of evidence, and intimidation of witnesses.” 28 C.F.R. § 600.4(a). Because of that

description ofourjurisdiction, we sought evidence for our obstruction-of-justice investigation with

the elements of obstruction offenses in mind. Our evidentiary analysis is similarly focused on the

elements of such offenses, although we do not draw conclusions on the ultimate questions that

govern a prosecutorial decision underthe Principles of Federal Prosecution. See Justice Manual

§ 9-27.000 et seq. (2018).

Here, we summarize the law interpreting the elements of potentially relevant obstruction
statutes in an ordinary case. This discussion does not address the uniqueconstitutional issues that
arise in an inquiry into official acts by the President. Those issues are discussed in a later section

of this report addressing constitutional defenses that the President’s counsel have raised. See
VolumeII, Section III.B, infra.

Three basic elements are common to most of the relevant obstruction statutes: (1) an

obstructive act; (2) a nexus betweenthe obstructive act and an official proceeding; and (3) a corrupt

intent. See, e.g., 18 U.S.C. §§ 1503, 1505, 1512(c)(2). We describe those elements as they have

beeninterpreted by the courts. We then discuss a more specific statute aimed at witness tampering,
see 18 U.S.C. § 1512(b), and describe the requirements for attempted offenses and endeavors to

obstruct justice, see 18 U.S.C. §§ 1503, 1512(c)(2).

Obstructive act. Obstruction-of-justice law “reaches all corrupt conduct capable of
producing an effect that prevents justice from being duly administered, regardless of the means

employed.” United States v. Silverman, 745 F.2d 1386, 1393 (11th Cir. 1984)(interpreting 18
U.S.C. § 1503). An “effort to influence” a proceeding can qualify as an endeavor to obstruct

justice even if the effort was “subtle or circuitous” and “however cleverly or with whatever

cloaking of purpose” it was made. United States v. Roe, 529 F.2d 629, 632 (4th Cir. 1975); see

also United States v. Quattrone, 441 F.3d 153, 173 (2d Cir. 2006). The verbs “‘obstruct or impede’

are broad”and“can refer to anything that blocks, makesdifficult, or hinders.” Marinello v. United
States, 138 S. Ct. 1101, 1106 (2018) (internal brackets and quotation marks omitted).

An improper motive can render an actor’s conduct criminal even when the conduct would

otherwise be lawful and within the actor’s authority. See United States v. Cueto, 151 F.3d 620,

631 (7th Cir. 1998) (affirming obstruction conviction ofa criminal defense attorney for “litigation-

related conduct”); United States v. Cintolo, 818 F.2d 980, 992 (1st Cir. 1987) (“any act by any
party—whether lawful or unlawful on its face—may abridge § 1503 if performed with a corrupt

motive”).

Nexus to a pending or contemplated official proceeding. Obstruction-of-justice law

generally requires a nexus, or connection, to an official proceeding. In Section 1503, the nexus

mustbe to pending “judicial or grand jury proceedings.” United States v. Aguilar, 515 U.S. 593,
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599 (1995). In Section 1505, the nexus can include a connection to a “pending” federal agency

proceeding or a congressionalinquiry or investigation. Under both statutes, the government must

demonstrate “a relationship in time, causation, or logic” between the obstructive act and the

proceeding orinquiry to be obstructed. Jd. at 599; see also Arthur Andersen LLP v. UnitedStates,

544 U.S. 696, 707-708 (2005). Section 1512(c) prohibits obstructive efforts aimed at official

proceedings including judicial or grand jury proceedings. 18 U.S.C. § 1515(a)(1)(A). “For

purposes of” Section 1512, “an official proceeding need not be pending or aboutto be instituted

at the time of the offense.” 18 U.S.C. § 1512(f)(1). Although a proceeding need notalready bein

progressto trigger liability under Section 1512(c), a nexus to a contemplated proceedingstill must

be shown. UnitedStates v. Young, 916 F.3d 368, 386 (4th Cir. 2019); United States v. Petruk, 781

F.3d 438, 445 (8th Cir. 2015); United States v. Phillips, 583 F.3d 1261, 1264 (10th Cir. 2009);
United States v. Reich, 479 F.3d 179, 186 (2d Cir. 2007). The nexus requirement narrows the

scope of obstruction statutes to ensure that individuals have “fair warning” of what the law
proscribes. Aguilar, 515 U.S. at 600 (internal quotation marks omitted).

The nexus showing has subjective and objective components. As an objective matter, a

defendant must act “in a mannerthatis /ikely to obstruct justice,” such that the statute “excludes

defendants who have an evil purpose but use means that would only unnaturally and improbably

be successful.” Aguilar, 515 U.S. at 601-602 (emphasis added; internal quotation marks omitted).

“(T]he endeavor must have the natural and probable effect of interfering with the due

administration of justice.” Jd. at 599 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). As a

subjective matter, the actor must have “contemplated a particular, foreseeable proceeding.”

Petruk, 781 F.3d at 445-446.. A defendant need not directly impede the proceeding. Rather, a

nexusexists if “discretionary actions of a third person would be required to obstruct the judicial

proceedingif it was foreseeable to the defendantthat the third party would act on the [defendant’s]

communication in such a wayasto obstruct the judicial proceeding.” United States v. Martinez,

862 F.3d 223, 238 (2d Cir. 2017) (brackets,ellipses, and internal quotation marks omitted).

Corruptly. The word “corruptly” provides the intent element for obstruction ofjustice and

means acting “knowingly and dishonestly” or “with an improper motive.” United States v.

Richardson, 676 F.3d 491, 508 (5th Cir. 2012); United States v. Gordon, 710 F.3d 1124, 1151

(10th Cir. 2013) (to act corruptly means to “act[] with an improper purpose and to engage in

conduct knowingly and dishonestly with the specific intent to subvert, impede or obstruct”the

relevant proceeding) (some quotation marks omitted); see 18 U.S.C. § 1515(b) (“As used in section

1505, the term ‘corruptly’ means acting with an improper purpose, personally or by influencing

another.”); see also Arthur Andersen, 544 U.S. at 705-706 (interpreting “corruptly” to mean

“wrongful, immoral, depraved, or evil” and holding that acting “knowingly . . . corruptly” in 18

U.S.C. § 1512(b) requires “consciousness of wrongdoing”). The requisite showing is made when

a person acted with an intent to obtain an “improper advantage for [him]self or someoneelse,

inconsistent with official duty and the rights of others.” BALLENTINE’S LAW DICTIONARY276 (3d

ed. 1969); see United States v. Pasha, 797 F.3d 1122, 1132 (D.C. Cir. 2015); Aguilar, 515 U.S. at

616 (Scalia, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part) (characterizing this definition as the
“longstanding and well-accepted meaning”of “corruptly”).

Witness tampering. A morespecific provision in Section 1512 prohibits tampering with a

witness. See 18 U.S.C. § 1512(b)(1), (3) (making it a crime to “knowingly use[] intimidation ...

or corruptly persuade[] another person,” or “engage[] in misleading conduct towards another

10
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person,” with the intent to “influence, delay, or prevent the testimony of any personin an official

proceeding”or to “hinder, delay, or prevent the communication to a law enforcementofficer. . .

of information relating to the commission or possible commission of a Federal offense”). To

establish corrupt persuasion,it is sufficient that the defendant asked a potential witness to lie to

investigators in contemplation ofa likely federal investigation into his conduct. United States v.
Edlind, 887 F.3d 166, 174 (4th Cir. 2018); United States v. Sparks, 791 F.3d 1188, 1191-1192
(10th Cir. 2015); United States v. Byrne, 435 F.3d 16, 23-26 (Ist Cir. 2006); United States v.

LaShay, 417 F.3d 715, 718-719 (7th Cir. 2005); United States v. Burns, 298 F.3d 523, 539-540
(6th Cir. 2002); United States v. Pennington, 168 F.3d 1060, 1066 (8th Cir. 1999). The

“persuasion” need not be coercive, intimidating, or explicit; it is sufficient to “urge,” “induce,”

“ask[],” “argu[e],” “giv[e] reasons,” Sparks, 791 F.3d at 1192, or “coach[] or remind[] witnesses

by planting misleading facts,” Edlind, 887 F.3d at 174. Corrupt persuasion is shown “where a
defendanttells a potential witness a false story as if the story were true, intending that the witness

believe the story andtestify to it.” United States v. Rodolitz, 786 F.2d 77, 82 (2d Cir. 1986); see

United States v. Gabriel, 125 F.3d 89, 102 (2d Cir. 1997). It also covers urging a witness to recall

a fact that the witness did not know,even if the fact was actually true. See LaShay, 417 F.3d at

719. Corrupt persuasion also can be shown in certain circumstances when a person, with an

improper motive, urges a witness not to cooperate with law enforcement. See United States v.

Shotts, 145 F.3d 1289, 1301 (11th Cr. 1998) (telling Secretary “not to [say] anything [to the FBI]

and [she] would not be bothered”).

When the charge is acting with the intent to hinder, delay, or prevent the communication

of information to law enforcement under Section 1512(b)(3), the “nexus”to a proceeding inquiry

articulated in Agui/ar—that an individual have “knowledgethat his actions are likely to affect the

judicial proceeding,” 515 U.S. at 599—doesnot apply because the obstructive act is aimed at the
communication ofinformation to investigators, not at impeding an official proceeding.

Acting “knowingly . . . corruptly” requires proof that the individual was “conscious of

wrongdoing.” Arthur Andersen, 544 U.S. at 705-706 (declining to explore “[t]he outer limits of

this element” but indicating that an instruction was infirm where it permitted conviction even if

the defendant“honestly and sincerely believed that [the] conduct was lawful”). It is an affirmative

defense that “the conductconsisted solely of lawful conduct andthat the defendant’s sole intention
wasto encourage, induce, or cause the other person totestify truthfully.” 18 U.S.C. § 1512(e).

Attempts and endeavors. Section 1512(c)(2) covers both substantive obstruction offenses

and attempts to obstruct justice. Under general principles of attempt law, a personis guilty of an

attempt when he has the intent to commit a substantive offense and takes an overt act that

constitutes a substantial step towards that goal. See United States v. Resendiz-Ponce, 549 U.S.
102, 106-107 (2007). “[T]he act [must be] substantial, in that it was strongly corroborative ofthe
defendant’s criminal purpose.” United States v. Pratt, 351 F.3d 131, 135 (4th Cir. 2003). While

“mere abstract talk” does not suffice, any “concrete and specific” acts that corroborate the

defendant’s intent can constitute a “substantial step.” United States v. Irving, 665 F.3d 1184, 1198-

1205 (10th Cir. 2011). Thus, “soliciting an innocent agent to engage in conduct constituting an

elementofthe crime” may qualify as a substantial step. Model Penal Code § 5.01(2)(g); see United

States v. Lucas, 499 F.3d 769, 781 (8th Cir. 2007).
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The omnibusclause of 18 U.S.C. § 1503 prohibits an “endeavor”to obstruct justice, which

sweeps more broadly than Section 1512’s attempt provision. See United States v. Sampson, 898

F.3d 287, 302 (2d Cir. 2018); United States v. Leisure, 844 F.2d 1347, 1366-1367 (8th Cir. 1988)
(collecting cases). “It is well established that a[n] [obstruction-of-justice] offense is complete

when one corruptly endeavors to obstruct or impede the due administration of justice; the

prosecution need not prove that the due administration of justice was actually obstructed or

impeded.” UnitedStates v. Davis, 854 F.3d 1276, 1292 (11th Cir. 2017) (internal quotation marks

omitted).

B. Investigative and Evidentiary Considerations

After the appointment of the Special Counsel, this Office obtained evidence about the

following eventsrelating to potential issues of obstruction ofjustice involving the President:

(a) The President’s January 27, 2017 dinner with former FBI Director James Comey in which

the President reportedly asked for Comey’s loyalty, one day after the White House had
been briefed by the Departmentof Justice on contacts between former National Security
Advisor Michael Flynn and the Russian Ambassador;

(b) ThePresident’s February 14, 2017 meeting with Comeyin which the President reportedly

asked Comeynotto pursue an investigation of Flynn;

(c) The President’s private requests to Comey to make public the fact that the President was

not the subject of an FBIinvestigation and to lift what the President regardedas a cloud;

(d) The President’s outreach to the Director of National Intelligence and the Directors of the

National Security Agency and the Central Intelligence Agency about the FBI’s Russia

investigation;

(ec) The President’s stated rationales for terminating Comey on May 9, 2017, including

statementsthat could reasonably be understood as acknowledging that the FBI’s Russia

investigation wasa factor in Comey’s termination; and

(f) The President’s reported involvementin issuing a statement aboutthe June 9, 2016 Trump

Tower meeting between Russians and senior Trump Campaign officials that said the
meeting was about adoption and omitted that the Russians had offered to provide the
Trump Campaign with derogatory information aboutHillary Clinton.

Taking into accountthat information and our analysis of applicable statutory and constitutional

principles (discussed below in VolumeI], Section III, infra), we determined that there was a

sufficient factual and legal basis to further investigate potential obstruction-of-justice issues
involving the President.

Manyofthe core issues in an obstruction-of-justice investigation turn on an individual’s

actions and intent. We therefore requested that the White House provide us with documentary

evidence in its possession on the relevant events. We also sought and obtained the White House’s

concurrence in our conductinginterviews ofWhite House personnel whohadrelevant information.

And we interviewed other witnesses who had pertinent knowledge, obtained documents on a
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voluntary basis when possible, and used legal process where appropriate. These investigative steps

allowed usto gather a substantial amount of evidence.

Wealso sought a voluntary interview with the President. After more than a year of
discussion, the President declined to be interviewed.

  

   

 

During the course of our discussions,

the President did agree to answer written questions on certain Russia-related topics, and he

provided us with answers. He did not similarly agree to provide written answers to questions on
obstruction topics or questions on events during the transition. Ultimately, while we believed that
wehadthe authority andlegaljustification to issue a grand jury subpoenato obtain the President’s

testimony, we chose not to do so. We madethat decision in view ofthe substantial delay that such

an investigative step would likely produce ata late stage in our investigation. We also assessed
that based on the significant body of evidence we had already obtained of the President’s actions
and his public and private statements describing or explaining those actions, we had sufficient

evidence to understand relevant events and to make certain assessments without the President’s

testimony. The Office’s decision-making process on this issue is described in more detail in

Appendix C,infra, in a note that precedes the President’s written responses.

In assessing the evidence weobtained, we relied on commonprinciples that apply in any

investigation. The issue of criminal intent is often inferred from circumstantial evidence. See,

e.g., United States v. Croteau, 819 F.3d 1293, 1305 (11th Cir. 2016) (“[G]uilty knowledge can

rarely be established by direct evidence. ... Therefore, mens rea elements such as knowledge or

intent may be proved by circumstantial evidence.”) (internal quotation marks omitted); United
States v. Robinson, 702 F.3d 22, 36 (2d Cir. 2012) (“The government’s case rested on

circumstantial evidence, but the mens rea elements of knowledge and intent can often be proved
through circumstantial evidence and the reasonable inferences drawn therefrom.”) (internal

quotation marks omitted). The principle that intent can be inferred from circumstantial evidence

is a necessity in criminal cases, given the right of a subjectto assert his privilege against compelled
self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment and therefore decline to testify. Accordingly,

determinations on intent are frequently reached without the opportunity to interview an

investigatory subject.

Obstruction-of-justice cases are consistent with this rule. See, e.g., Edlind, 887 F.3d at

174, 176 (relying on “significant circumstantial evidence that [the defendant] was consciousofher

wrongdoing” in an obstruction case; “[b]ecause evidence of intent will almost always be
circumstantial, a defendant may be found culpable where the reasonable and foreseeable
consequencesofher acts are the obstruction of justice”) (internal quotation marks, ellipses, and

punctuation omitted); Quattrone, 441 F.3d at 173-174. Circumstantial evidence that illuminates

intent may includea pattern ofpotentially obstructive acts. Fed. R. Evid. 404(b) (“Evidence of a

crime, wrong, or other act... may be admissible .. . [to] prov[e] motive, opportunity, intent,

preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, absence of mistake, or lack of accident.”); see, e.g., United
States v. Frankhauser, 80 F.3d 641, 648-650 (Ist Cir. 1996); United States v. Arnold, 773 F.2d

823, 832-834 (7th Cir. 1985); Cintolo, 818 F.2d at 1000.

Credibility judgments may also be made based on objective facts and circumstantial

evidence. Standard jury instructions highlight a variety of factors that are often relevant in
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assessing credibility. These include whether a witness had a reason notto tell the truth; whether

the witness had a good memory; whether the witness had the opportunity to observe the events

about which hetestified; whether the witness’s testimony was corroborated by other witnesses;

and whether anything the witness said or wrote previously contradicts his testimony. See, e.g.,
First Circuit Pattern Jury Instructions § 1.06 (2018); Fifth Circuit Pattern Jury Instructions

(Criminal Cases) § 1.08 (2012); Seventh Circuit Pattern Jury Instruction § 3.01 (2012).

In addition to those general factors, we took into account morespecific factors in assessing

the credibility of conflicting accounts ofthe facts. For example, contemporaneous written notes

can provide strong corroborating evidence. See United States v. Nobles, 422 U.S. 225, 232 (1975)

(the fact that a “statement appeared in the contemporaneously recorded report . . . would tend

strongly to corroborate the investigator’s version of the interview”). Similarly, a witness’s

recitation of his account before he had any motive to fabricate also supports the witness’s

credibility. See Tome v. United States, 513 U.S. 150, 158 (1995) (“A consistent statement that

predates the motive is a square rebuttal of the charge that the testimony was contrived as a

consequenceof that motive.”). Finally, a witness’s false description of an encounter can imply

consciousness of wrongdoing. See Al-Adahi v. Obama, 613 F.3d 1102, 1107 (D.C. Cir. 2010)
(noting the “well-settled principle that false exculpatory statements are evidence—often strong

evidence—ofguilt”). We applied those settled legal principles in evaluating the factual results of
our investigation.
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II. FACTUAL RESULTS OF THE OBSTRUCTION INVESTIGATION

Thissection ofthe report details the evidence we obtained. Wefirst provide an overview

of how Russia became an issue in the 2016 presidential campaign, and how candidate Trump

responded. Wethen turn to the key eventsthat we investigated: the President’s conduct concerning

the FBI investigation ofMichael Flynn;the President’s reaction to public confirmation ofthe FBI’s

Russia investigation; events leading up to and surrounding the termination ofFBI Director Comey;

efforts to terminate the Special Counsel; efforts to curtail the scope of the Special Counsel’s

investigation; efforts to prevent disclosure of information about the June 9, 2016 Trump Tower

meeting between Russians and senior campaignofficials; efforts to have the Attorney General

unrecuse; and conduct towards McGahn, Cohen,and other witnesses.

Wesummarize the evidence we found andthenanalyzeit by referenceto the three statutory
obstruction-of-justice elements: obstructive act, nexus to a proceeding, and intent. We focus on

elements because, by regulation, the Special Counsel has“jurisdiction. . . to investigate . . . federal

crimes committed in the course of, and with intent to interfere with, the Special Counsel’s

investigation, such as perjury, obstruction ofjustice, destruction of evidence, and intimidation of

witnesses.” 28 C.F.R. § 600.4(a). Consistent with our jurisdiction to investigate federal

obstruction crimes, we gathered evidence that is relevant to the elements of those crimes and

analyzed them within an elements framework—while refraining from reaching ultimate
conclusions about whether crimes were committed, for the reasons explained above. This section

also doesnot address legal and constitutional defenses raised by counsel for the President; those

defenses are analyzed in VolumeII, Section III, infra.

A. The Campaign’s Response to Reports About Russian Support for Trump

During the 2016 campaign, the media raised questions abouta possible connection between
the Trump Campaign and Russia.’ The questions intensified after WikiLeaksreleased politically
damaging Democratic Party emails that were reported to have been hacked by Russia. Trump

responded to questions aboutpossible connections to Russia by denying any business involvement

in Russia—even though the Trump Organization had pursued a business project in Russia as late

as June 2016. Trumpalso expressed skepticism that Russia had hacked the emails at the same
time as he and other Campaign advisors privately sought information about any

further planned WikiLeaks releases. After the election, when questionspersisted about possible
links between Russia and the Trump Campaign, the President-Elect continued to deny any

connections to Russia and privately expressed concerns that reports of Russian election

interference might lead the public to question the legitimacy ofhis election.*

7 This section summarizes and cites various news stories not for the truth of the information
contained in the stories, but rather to place candidate Trump’s responseto thosestories in context. Volume
I of this report analyzes the underlying facts of several relevant events that were reported on by the media

during the campaign.

5 As discussed in VolumeI, while the investigation identified numerous links betweenindividuals

with ties to the Russian government andindividuals associated with the Trump Campaign, the evidence
was not sufficient to charge that any member of the Trump Campaign conspired or coordinated with
representatives of the Russian governmentto interfere in the 2016 election.
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1. Press Reports Allege Links Between the Trump Campaign and Russia

On June 16, 2015, Donald J. Trump declared his intent to seek nomination as the

Republican candidate for President.’ By early 2016, he distinguished himself among Republican
candidates by speaking of closer ties with Russia,'° saying he would get along well with Russian

President Vladimir Putin,'! questioning whether the NATOalliance was obsolete,'? and praising

Putin as a “strong leader.”'? Thepress reported that Russian political analysts and commentators

perceived Trumpasfavorable to Russia.'*

Beginning in February 2016 and continuing through the summer, the media reported that

several Trump campaign advisors appeared to have ties to Russia. For example, the press reported

that campaign advisor Michael Flynn wasseated next to Vladimir Putin at an RT gala in Moscow

in December 2015 and that Flynn had appeared regularly on RT as an analyst.'> Thepress also

reported that foreign policy advisor Carter Page hadties to a Russian state-run gas company,'® and

that campaign chairman Paul Manafort had done workfor the “Russian-backed former Ukrainian

president Viktor Yanukovych.”!” In addition, the press raised questions during the Republican

? @realDonaldTrump6/16/15 (11:57 a.m. ET) Tweet.

© See, e.g., Meet the Press Interview with Donald J. Trump, NBC (Dec. 20, 2015) (Trump:“I think

it would be a positive thing if Russia and the United States actually got along”); Presidential Candidate
Donald Trump News Conference, Hanahan, South Carolina, C-SPAN (Feb. 15, 2016) (“You want to make
a good deal for the country, you want to deal with Russia.”).

"' See, e.g., Anderson Cooper 360 Degrees, CNN (July 8, 2015) (“I think I get along with [Putin]
fine.”); Andrew Rafferty, Trump Says He Would “Get Along Very Well” With Putin, NBC (July 30, 2015)
(quoting Trump assaying,“I think I would get along very well with Vladimir Putin.”).

"2 See, e.g., @realDonaldTrump Tweet 3/24/16 (7:47 a.m. ET); @realDonaldTrump Tweet3/24/16
(7:59 a.m. ET).

'3 See, e.g., Meet the Press Interview with Donald J. Trump, NBC (Dec. 20, 2015) (“[Putin] is a
strong leader. What am I gonnasay, he’s a weak leader? He’s making mincemeatoutof our President.”);
Donald Trump Campaign Rally in Vandalia, Ohio, C-SPAN (Mar. 12, 2016) (“I said [Putin] was a strong
leader, which he is. I mean, he might be bad, he might be good. But he’s a strong leader.”).

'4 See, e.g., Andrew Osborn, From Russia with love: why the Kremlin backs Trump, Reuters (Mar.
24, 2016); Robert Zubrin, Trump: The Kremlin’s Candidate, National Review (Apr. 4, 2016).

5 See, e, g., Mark Hosenball & Steve Holland, Trump being advised by ex-U.S. Lieutenant General

whofavors closer Russia ties, Reuters (Feb. 26, 2016); Tom Hamburgeret al., Inside Trump'sfinancialties
to Russia and his unusualflattery of Vladimir Putin, Washington Post (June 17, 2016). Certain matters
pertaining to Flynn are described in VolumeI, Section IV.B.7, supra.

'6 See, e.g., Zachary Mider, Trump’s New Russia Advisor Has Deep Ties to Kremlin's Gazprom,
Bloomberg (Mar. 30, 2016); Julia Iofee, Who is Carter Page?, Politico (Sep. 23, 2016). Certain matters
pertaining to Page are described in VolumeI, Section IV.A.3, supra.

’ Tracy Wilkinson, In shift, Republicanplatform doesn't callfor arming Ukraine against Russia,
spurring outrage, Los Angeles Times (July 21, 2016); Josh Rogin, Trump campaign guts GOP’s anti-
Russia stance on Ukraine, Washington Post (July 18, 2016).
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National Convention about the Trump Campaign’s involvement in changing the Republican

platform’s stance on giving “weaponsto Ukraineto fight Russian and rebelforces.”!®

2. The Trump Campaign Reacts to WikiLeaks’s Release of Hacked Emails

On June 14, 2016, a cybersecurity firm that had conducted in-house analysis for the
Democratic National Committee (DNC) posted an announcement that Russian government

hackershad infiltrated the DNC’s computer and obtained access to documents.'?

On July 22, 2016, the day before the Democratic National Convention, WikiLeaks posted

thousands ofhacked DNC documentsrevealing sensitive internal deliberations.” Soon thereafter,

Hillary Clinton’s campaign manager publicly contended that Russia had hacked the DNC emails

and arrangedtheir release in order to help candidate Trump.”! On July 26, 2016, the New York

Timesreported that U.S. “intelligence agencies ha[d] told the White House they now have ‘high

confidence’ that the Russian government was behind the theft of emails and documents from the

Democratic National Committee.”””

Within the Trump Campaign, aides reacted with enthusiasm to reports of the hacks.’

Harm to Ongoing Matter discussed with Campaignofficials that WikiLeaks
would release the hacked material.“ Some witnesses said that Trump himself discussed the

possibility of upcoming releases . Michael Cohen, then-executive vice president ofthe

Trump Organization andspecial counsel to Trump, recalled hearing WEMUECMeNreesiiye)

  

 

    

    
  Cohenrecalled that Trump responded, “oh good,alright,”

'8 Josh Rogin, Trump campaign guts GOP’s anti-Russia stance on Ukraine, Washington Post,
Opinions (July 18, 2016). The Republican Platform events are described in VolumeI, Section IV.A.6,
supra.

'9 Bears in the Midst: Intrusion into the Democratic National Committee, CrowdStrike (June 15,

2016) (post originally appearing on June 14, 2016, according to records of the timing provided by
CrowdStrike); Ellen Nakashima, Russian government hackers penetrated DNC, stole opposition research
on Trump, Washington Post (June 14, 2016).

?° Tom Hamburger and Karen Tumulty, WikiLeaks releases thousandsofdocuments aboutClinton
andinternal deliberations, Washington Post (July 22, 2016).

2! AmberPhillips, Clinton campaign manager: Russians leaked Democrats’ emails to help Donald
Trump, WashingtonPost (July 24, 2016).

» David E. Sanger and Eric Schmitt, Spy Agency Consensus Grows That Russia Hacked D.N.C.,
New York Times (July 26, 2016).

3 Gates 4/10/18 302, at 5; Newman 8/23/18 302,at 1.

4 Gates 4/11/18 302, at 2-3 (SM-2180998); Gates 10/25/18 302,at 2; see also VolumeI, Section

I.D.1, supra.

5 Cohen 8/7/18 302, at 8; see also VolumeI, Section III.D.1, supra. According to Cohen,after

WikiLeaks’s subsequentrelease of stolen DNC emails on July 22, 2016, Trumpsaid to Cohen wordsto the
effect of,SaCohen 9/18/18 302, at 10. Cohen’s role in the candidate’s and later
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Aivaarm to Ongoing Matter 26 Manafort said that shortl after WikiLeaks’s July 22,
2016 release of hacked documents, he spoke to Trump GEMM ohare fy fake METCTs

; Manafort recalled that Trump responded that

Manafort should keep Trumpupdated.” Deputy campaign manager
Rick Gates said that Manafort was getting pressure aboutmia information and that
Manafort instructed GatesLnstatus updates on upcoming releases.* Around

the same time, Gates was with Trumpona trip to an .ipor(a

eee. and shortly after the call ended, Trump told Gates that more releases of damaging
information would be coming.” were discussed within the
Campaign,” and in the summerof 2016, the Campaign was planning a communicationsstrategy

based onthe possible release of Clinton emails by WikiLeaks.?!

3. The Trump Campaign Reacts to Allegations That Russia was Seeking to Aid

Candidate Trump

In the days that followed WikiLeaks’s July 22, 2016 release of hacked DNC emails, the

Trump Campaign publicly rejected suggestions that Russia was seeking to aid candidate Trump.
On July 26, 2016, Trump tweeted that it was “[c]razy” to suggest that Russia was “dealing with

Trump”” andthat “[fJor the record,” he had “ZEROinvestments in Russia.”??

In a press conference the next day, July 27, 2016, Trump characterized “this whole thing

with Russia”as “a total deflection” and stated that it was “farfetched”and “ridiculous.”°* Trump
said that the assertion that Russia had hacked the emails was unproven, but stated that it would
give him “no pause”if Russia had Clinton’s emails.?° Trump added, “Russia,if you’re listening,

T hope you’re able to find the 30,000 emails that are missing. I think you will probably be rewarded

President’s activities, and his own criminal conduct, is described in VolumeII, Section ILK,infra, and in

VolumeI, Section IV.A.1, supra.

6 Cohen 8/7/18 302,at 8.

a . As explained in footnote 197 of Volume
I, Section III.D.1.b, supra, this Office has included Manafort’s account of these events becauseit aligns
with those of other witnesses and is corroborated to that extent.

28 Gates 10/25/18 302,at 4.

9 Gates 10/25/18 302,at 4.

3° Bannon 1/18/19 302,at 3.

3! Gates 4/11/18 302, at 1-2 (SM-2180998); Gates 10/25/18 302,at 2 (messaging strategy wasbein

formed in June/July timeframe based on claims by Assange on June 12, 2016,feet
Harm to Ongoing Matter ).

» @realDonaldTrump 7/26/16 (6:47 p.m. ET) Tweet.

33 @realDonaldTrump 7/26/16 (6:50 p.m. ET) Tweet.

34 Donald Trump News Conference, Doral, Florida, C-SPAN (July 27, 2016).

35 Donald Trump News Conference, Doral, Florida, C-SPAN (July 27, 2016).
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mightily by our press.”°° Trump also said that “there’s nothing that I can think ofthat I’d rather
do than have Russia friendly as opposed to the way they are right now,” and in response to a

question about whether he would recognize Crimea as Russian territory and consider lifting

sanctions, Trumpreplied, “We’ll be looking at that. Yeah, we’ll be looking.”?”

During the press conference, Trump repeated “J have nothing to do with Russia” five

times.>® Hestated that “the closest [he] came to Russia” wasthat Russians may have purchased a

homeor condos from him.*? He said that after he held the Miss Universe pageant in Moscow in

2013 he had been interested in working with Russian companiesthat “wantedto put a lot ofmoney

into developmentsin Russia”but “it never worked out.’“° He explained, “[f]rankly, I didn’t want

to doit for a couple of different reasons. But we had a major developer. . . that wanted to develop

property in Moscow andother places. But we decided notto doit.4! The Trump Organization,

however, had been pursuing a building project in Moscow—the Trump Tower Moscow project—

from approximately September 2015 through June 2016, and the candidate was regularly updated

on developments, including possible trips by Michael Cohen to Moscow to promote the deal and

by Trumphimselfto finalizeit.”

Cohen recalled speaking with Trump after the press conference about Trump’s denial of

any business dealings in Russia, which Cohen regarded as untrue.*? Trump told Cohenthat Trump

Tower Moscow wasnota deal yet andsaid, “Why mentionitif it is not a deal?“ According to

Cohen,at aroundthis time, in response to Trump’s disavowal of connections to Russia, campaign

36 Donald Trump News Conference, Doral, Florida, C-SPAN (July 27, 2016). Within five hours
of Trump’s remark, a Russian intelligence service began targeting email accounts associated with Hillary
Clinton for possible hacks. See Volume I, Section III, supra. In written answers submitted in this

investigation, the President stated that he made the “Russia, if you’re listening” statement “in jest and
sarcastically, as was apparent to any objective observer.” Written Responses of Donald J. Trump (Nov.20,
2018), at 13 (Response to Question II, Part (d)).

37 Donald Trump News Conference, Doral, Florida, C-SPAN (July 27, 2016). In his written
answers submitted in this investigation, the President said that his statement that “we’ll be looking” at
Crimea and sanctions “did not communicate any position.” Written Responses of Donald J. Trump (Nov.

20, 2018), at 17 (Response to Question IV,Part (g)).

38 Donald Trump News Conference, Doral, Florida, C-SPAN (July 27, 2016).

>? Donald Trump News Conference, Doral, Florida, C-SPAN(July 27, 2016).

* Donald Trump News Conference, Doral, Florida, C-SPAN (July 27, 2016).

“| Donald Trump News Conference, Doral, Florida, C-SPAN (July 27, 2016).

“ The Trump Tower Moscow project and Trump’s involvementin it is discussed in detail in
VolumeI, Section IV.A.1, supra, and VolumeII, Section II.K, infra.

*® Cohen 9/18/18 302,at 4.

“4 Cohen 9/18/18 302,at 4-5.
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advisors had developeda “party line” that Trump had no business with Russia and no connections

to Russia.”

In addition to denying any connections with Russia, the Trump Campaignreacted to reports

of Russian election interferencein aid of the Campaign by seeking to distance itself from Russian

contacts. For example, in August 2016, foreign policy advisor J.D. Gordon declined an invitation

to Russian Ambassador Sergey Kislyak’s residence because the timing was “not optimal” in view

of media reports about Russian interference.“* On August 19, 2016, Manafort was askedto resign

amid media coveragescrutinizing his ties to a pro-Russianpolitical party in Ukraine andlinks to

Russian business.*” And when the media published stories about Page’s connectionsto Russia in
September 2016, Trump Campaignofficials terminated Page’s association with the Campaign and

told the press that he had played “no role” in the Campaign.*®

On October 7, 2016, WikiLeaks released the first set of emails stolen by a Russian

intelligence agency from Clinton Campaign chairman John Podesta.” The same day,the federal
government announcedthat“the Russian Governmentdirected the recent compromises of e-mails

from USpersonsandinstitutions, including from US political organizations.”°° The government

statementdirectly linked Russian hackingto the releases on WikiLeaks, with the goalofinterfering
with the presidential election, and concluded “that only Russia’s senior-most officials could have
authorized these activities” based on their “scope and sensitivity.”*!

On October 11, 2016, Podesta stated publicly that the FBI was investigating Russia’s
hacking and said that candidate Trump might have knownin advance thatthe hacked emails were
going to be released.” Vice Presidential Candidate Mike Pence was asked whether the Trump

4 Cohen 11/20/18 302, at 1; Cohen 9/18/18 302, at 3-5. The formation of the “party line” is

described in greater detail in VolumeII, Section ILK,infra.

“6 DITFP00004953 (8/8/16 Email, Gordon to Pchelyakov)(stating that “[t]hese days are not
optimal for us, as we are busily knocking down a stream of false media stories”). The invitation and
Gordon’s response are discussed in VolumeI, Section IV.A.7.a, supra.

47 See, e.g., AmberPhillips, Paul Manafort’s complicated ties to Ukraine, explained, Washington
Post (Aug. 19, 2016) (“There were also a wave of fresh headlines dealing with investigations into
[Manafort’s]ties to a pro-Russianpolitical party in Ukraine.”); Tom Winter & Ken Dilanian, Donald Trump
Aide Paul Manafort Scrutinized for Russian Business Ties, NBC (Aug. 18, 2016). Relevant events
involving Manafort are discussed in VolumeI, Section IV.A.8, supra.

‘8 MichaelIsikoff, U.S. intel officials probe ties between Trump adviser and Kremlin, Yahoo News
(Sep. 23, 2016); see, e.g., 9/25/16 Email, Hicks to Conway & Bannon, 9/23/16 Email, J. Miller to Bannon
& S. Miller; Page 3/16/17 302,at 2.

° @WikiLeaks 10/7/16 (4:32 p.m. ET) Tweet.

°° Joint Statement from the Department Of Homeland Security and Office of the Director of

NationalIntelligence on Election Security, DHS (Oct. 7, 2016).

5! Joint Statement from the Department Of Homeland Security and Office of the Director of

NationalIntelligence on Election Security, DHS (Oct. 7, 2016).

> John Wagner & Anne Gearan, Clinton campaign chairmanties email hack to Russians, suggests

Trump had early warning, Washington Post (Oct. 11, 2016).
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Campaign was“in cahoots” with WikiLeaks in releasing damaging Clinton-related information

and responded, “Nothing could be further from the truth.”°?

4. After the Election, Trump Continues to Deny Any Contacts or Connections

with Russia or That Russia Aided his Election

On November8, 2016, Trump was elected President. Two days later, Russian officials

told the press that the Russian government had maintained contacts with Trump’s “immediate

entourage” during the campaign.™’ In response, Hope Hicks, who had been the Trump Campaign

spokesperson, said, “We are not aware of any campaign representatives that were in touch with

any foreign entities before yesterday, when Mr. Trump spoke with many world leaders.”°° Hicks

gave an additional statement denying any contacts between the Campaign and Russia: “It never

happened. There was no communication between the campaign and any foreign entity during the

campaign.”*°

On December10, 2016, the press reported that U.S. intelligence agencies had “concluded
that Russia interfered in last month’s presidential election to boost Donald Trump’s bid for the
White House.”*’ Reacting to the story the next day, President-Elect Trumpstated, “I think it’s

ridiculous. I think it’s just another excuse.”°* He continued that no one really knew who was
responsible for the hacking, suggesting that the intelligence community had “no ideaif it’s Russia

or China or somebody. It could be somebodysitting in a bed some place.”** The President-Elect

3 Louis Nelson, Pence denies Trump camp in cahoots with WikiLeaks, Politico (Oct. 14, 2016).

*4 Tyan Nechepurenko, Russian Officials Were in Contact With Trump Allies, Diplomat Says, New
York Times (Nov. 10, 2016) (quoting Russian Deputy Foreign Minister Sergey Ryabkovsaying, “[t]here
were contacts” and “I cannot say that all, but a number of them maintained contacts with Russian
representatives”); Jim Heintz & Matthew Lee, Russia eyes better ties with Trump; says contacts underway,
Associated Press (Nov.11, 2016) (quoting Ryabkov saying, “I don’t say that all of them, but a whole array
of them supported contacts with Russian representatives”).

°° Tvan Nechepurenko, Russian Officials Were in Contact With Trump Allies, Diplomat Says, New
York Times (Nov. 11, 2016) (quoting Hicks).

°° Jim Heintz & Matthew Lee, Russia eyes better ties with Trump; says contacts underway,

Associated Press (Nov. 10, 2016) (quoting Hicks). Hicks recalled that after she made that statement, she
spoke with Campaign advisors Kellyanne Conway, Stephen Miller, Jason Miller, and probably Kushner
and Bannonto ensure it was accurate, and there was no hesitation or pushback from any of them. Hicks
12/8/17 302, at 4.

*7 Damien Gayle, CIA concludes Russia interfered to help Trump win election, say reports,
Guardian (Dec. 10, 2016).

°8 Chris Wallace Hosts “Fox News Sunday,” Interview with President-Elect Donald Trump, CQ
NewsmakerTranscripts (Dec. 11, 2016).

°° Chris Wallace Hosts “Fox News Sunday,” Interview with President-Elect Donald Trump, CQ
Newsmaker Transcripts (Dec. 11, 2016).
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also said that Democrats were “putting [] out” the story of Russian interference “because they

suffered oneofthe greatest defeats in the history ofpolitics.”

On December 18, 2016, Podesta told the press that the election was “distorted by the

Russian intervention” and questioned whether Trump Campaignofficials had been “in touch with

the Russians.”°! The same day, incoming Chiefof Staff Reince Priebus appeared on Fox News
Sunday and declined to say whether the President-Elect accepted the intelligence community’s
determination that Russia intervened in the election.°* When asked about any contact or

coordination between the Campaign and Russia, Priebus said, “Even this question is insane. Of
course we didn’t interface with the Russians.”© Priebus addedthat “this whole thing is a spin job”

and said, “the real question is, why the Democrats . . . are doing everything they can to delegitimize

the outcomeofthe election?’”*

On December29, 2016, the Obama Administration announcedthat in response to Russian

cyber operations aimed at the U.S. election, it was imposing sanctions and other measures on

several Russian individuals and entities.When first asked about the sanctions, President-Elect

Trumpsaid, “I think we ought to get on with ourlives.”°° Hethen put out a statementthat said

“It’s time for our country to moveonto bigger and better things,” but indicated that he would meet

withintelligence community leaders the following week for a briefing on Russian interference.®”

The briefing occurred on January 6, 2017.Following the briefing, the intelligence community

released the public version of its assessment, which concluded with high confidence that Russia

had intervened in the election through a variety of means with the goal of harming Clinton’s

6° Chris Wallace Hosts “Fox News Sunday,” Interview with President-Elect Donald Trump, CQ
Newsmaker Transcripts (Dec. 11, 2016).

6! David Morgan, Clinton campaign: It’s an ‘open question’ ifTrump team colluded with Russia,
Reuters BusinessInsider (Dec. 18, 2016).

8 Chris Wallace Hosts “Fox News Sunday,” Interview with Incoming White House ChiefofStaff
Reince Priebus, Fox News (Dec. 18, 2016).

63 Chris Wallace Hosts “Fox News Sunday,” Interview with Incoming White House ChiefofStaff
Reince Priebus, Fox News (Dec. 18, 2016).

64 Chris Wallace Hosts “Fox News Sunday,” Interview with Incoming White House ChiefofStaff
Reince Priebus, Fox News (Dec. 18, 2016).

6 Statement by the President on Actions in Response to Russian Malicious Cyber Activity and
Harassment, White House (Dec. 29, 2016); see also Missy Ryan et al., Obama administration announces
measures to punish Russiafor 2016 election interference, Washington Post (Dec. 29, 2016).

6° John Wagner, Trump on alleged election interference by Russia: ‘Get on with our lives,’
Washington Post(Dec. 29, 2016).

§7 Missy Ryanet al., Obama administration announces measures topunish Russiafor 2016 election

interference, Washington Post (Dec. 29, 2016).

§§ Comey 11/15/17 302,at3.
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electability.” The assessment further concluded with high confidencethat Putin and the Russian

governmenthad developed a clear preference for Trump.”

Several days later, BuzzFeed published unverified allegations compiled by former British

intelligence officer Christopher Steele during the campaign about candidate Trump’s Russia

connections under the headline “These Reports Allege Trump Has Deep Ties To Russia.””! Ina
press conference the next day, the President-Elect called the release “an absolute disgrace” and
said, “I have no dealings with Russia. I have no deals that could happen in Russia, because we’ve

stayed away.... So I have no deals, I have noloansand J have no dealings. We could make deals

in Russia very easily ifwe wantedto, I just don’t wantto becauseI think that would be a conflict.”””

Several advisors recalled that the President-Elect viewed stories about his Russian

connections, the Russia investigations, and the intelligence community assessment of Russian

interference as a threat to the legitimacy of his electoral victory.”* Hicks, for example, said that

the President-Elect viewedthe intelligence community assessment as his “Achilles heel” because,

even if Russia had no impact on theelection, people would think Russia helped him win, taking

away from what he had accomplished.“ Sean Spicer, the first White House communications

director, recalled that the President thought the Russia story was developed to undermine the

legitimacyofhis election.” Gates said the President viewed the Russia investigation as an attack

on the legitimacy of his win.”© And Priebus recalled that whenthe intelligence assessment came
out, the President-Elect was concerned people would question the legitimacy of his win.””

© Office of the Director ofNational Intelligence, Russia’s Influence Campaign Targeting the 2016
US Presidential Election, at 1 (Jan. 6, 2017).

7 Office of the Director ofNationalIntelligence, Russia’s Influence Campaign Targeting the 2016

US Presidential Election, at 1 (Jan. 6, 2017).

7! Ken Bensingeret al., These Reports Allege Trump Has Deep Ties To Russia, BuzzFeed (Jan. 10,
2017).

® Donald Trump’s News Conference: Full Transcript and Video, New York Times (Jan. 11,
2017), available at https://www.nytimes.com/2017/01/1 1/us/politics/trump-press-conference-

transcript.html.

® Priebus 10/13/17 302, at 7; Hicks 3/13/18 302, at 18; Spicer 10/16/17 302, at 6; Bannon 2/14/18
302, at 2; Gates 4/18/18 302, at 3; see Pompeo 6/28/17 302, at 2 (the President believed that the purpose of

the Russia investigation was to delegitimize his presidency).

™ Hicks 3/13/18 302,at 18.

5 Spicer 10/17/17 302,at6.

7 Gates 4/18/18 302,at 3.

7 Priebus 10/13/17 302,at 7.
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B. The President’s Conduct Concerning the Investigation of Michael Flynn

Overview

During the presidential transition, incoming National Security Advisor Michael Flynn had

two phonecalls with the Russian Ambassadorto the United States about the Russian response to
U.S. sanctions imposed because of Russia’s election interference. After the press reported on

Flynn’s contacts with the Russian Ambassador, Flynn lied to incoming Administration officials

by saying he had not discussed sanctions on the calls. The officials publicly repeated thoselies in
press interviews. The FBI, which previously was investigating Flynn for other matters,

interviewed him aboutthe calls in the first week after the inauguration, and Flynn told similarlies

to the FBI. On January 26, 2017, Departmentof Justice (DOJ) officials notified the White House
that Flynn and the Russian Ambassador had discussed sanctions and that Flynn had been
interviewed by the FBI. The next night, the Presidenthad a private dinner with FBI Director James
Comeyin which he asked for Comey’s loyalty. On February 13, 2017, the President asked Flynn

to resign. The following day, the President had a one-on-one conversation with Comey in which
he said, “T hope you can see your wayclearto letting this go, to letting Flynn go.”

Evidence

1. Incoming National Security Advisor Flynn Discusses Sanctions on Russia with

Russian AmbassadorSergey Kislyak

Shortly after the election, President-Elect Trump announced he would appoint Michael
Flynnas his National Security Advisor.”* For the next two months, Flynn played an active role on

the Presidential Transition Team (PTT) coordinating policy positions and communicating with

foreign government officials, including Russian Ambassador to the United States Sergey

Kislyak.”?

On December 29, 2016, as noted in Volume II, Section II.A.4, supra, the Obama

Administration announced that it was imposing sanctions and other measures on several Russian
individuals and entities.°° That day, multiple members of the PTT exchanged emails about the

sanctions and the impact they would have on the incoming Administration, and Flynn informed
members of the PTT that he would be speaking to the Russian Ambassadorlater in the day.®!

Flynn 11/16/17 302,at 7; President-Elect Donald J. Trump Selects U.S. Senator JeffSessionsfor
Attorney General, Lt. Gen. Michael Flynn as Assistant to the President for National Security Affairs and
U.S. Rep. Mike Pompeo as Director ofthe Central Intelligence Agency, President-Elect Donald J. Trump
Press Release (Nov. 18, 2016); see also, e.g., Bryan Bender, Trump names Mike Flynn nationalsecurity
adviser, Politico, (Nov. 17, 2016).

” Flynn 11/16/17 302, at 8-14; Priebus 10/13/17 302,at 3-5.

8° Statement by the President on Actions in Response to Russian Malicious Cyber Activity and
Harassment, The White House, Office of the Press Secretary (Dec. 29, 2016).

8! 12/29/16 Email, O’Brien to McFarlandet al.; 12/29/16 Email, Bossert to Flynn et al.; 12/29/16
Email, McFarland to Flynn et al.; SFO00001 (12/29/16 Text Message, Flynn to Flaherty) (‘Tit for tat w
Russia not good. Russian AMBOreaching out to me today.”); Flynn 1/19/18 302,at 2.
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Flynn, who was in the Dominican Republic at the time, and K.T. McFarland, who wasslated to

become the Deputy National Security Advisor and was at the Mar-a-Lagoresort in Florida with

the President-Elect and other senior staff, talked by phone about what, if anything, Flynn should

communicate to Kislyak about the sanctions.’ McFarland had spoken with incoming

Administration officials about the sanctions and Russia’s possible responses and thought she had

mentioned in those conversations that Flynn was scheduled to speak with Kislyak.*3 Based on
those conversations, McFarland informed Flynn that incoming Administration officials at Mar-a-

Lago did not want Russia to escalate the situation.** At 4:43 p.m. that afternoon, McFarland sent
an email to severalofficials about the sanctions and informedthe groupthat “Gen [F]lynnis talking

to russian ambassadorthis evening.”®>

Approximately one hourlater, McFarland met with the President-Elect and seniorofficials
and briefed them onthe sanctions and Russia’s possible responses.®° Incoming Chief of Staff

Reince Priebus recalled that McFarland may have mentioned at the meeting that the sanctions

situation could be “cooled down”andnot escalated.8’ McFarland recalled that at the end of the
meeting, someone may have mentioned to the President-Elect that Flynn was speaking to the

Russian Ambassador that evening.*® McFarland did not recall any response by the President-
Elect.®® Priebusrecalled that the President-Elect viewed the sanctions as an attempt by the Obama
Administration to embarrass him by delegitimizing his election.”

Immediately after discussing the sanctions with McFarland on December29, 2016, Flynn

called Kislyak and requested that Russia respond to the sanctions only in a reciprocal manner,

without escalating the situation.”! After the call, Flynn briefed McFarland onits substance.”

Flynn told McFarland that the Russian response to the sanctions was not going to be escalatory

because Russia wanted a good relationship with the Trump Administration.” On December 30,
2016, Russian President Vladimir Putin announced that Russia would nottake retaliatory measures

® Statement of Offense at 2-3, United States v. Michael T. Flynn, 1:17-cr-232 (D.D.C. Dec. 1,

2017), Doc. 4 (Flynn Statement of Offense); Flynn 11/17/17 302, at 3-4; Flynn 11/20/17 302,at 3;
McFarland 12/22/17 302, at 6-7.

83 McFarland 12/22/17 302,at 4-7 (recalling discussions aboutthis issue with Bannon and Priebus).

*4 Flynn Statementof Offense,at 3; Flynn 11/17/17 302, at 3-4; McFarland 12/22/17 302,at 6-7.

85 12/29/16 Email, McFarland to Flynnetal.

86 McFarland 12/22/17 302,at 7.

*” Priebus 1/18/18 302,at 3.

88 McFarland 12/22/17 302, at 7. Priebus thought it was possible that McFarland had mentioned

Flynn’s scheduled call with Kislyak at this meeting, although he was notcertain. Priebus 1/18/18 302,at
35

5° McFarland 12/22/17 302,at7.

®°Priebus 1/18/18 302, at 3.

°! Flynn Statement of Offense, at 3; Flynn 11/17/17 302,at 3-4.

e Flynn Statement of Offense, at 3; McFarland 12/22/17 302, at 7-8; Flynn 11/17/17 302,at 4.

% McFarland 12/22/17 302,at 8.
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in responseto the sanctionsat that time and would instead “plan .. . further steps to restore Russian-

USrelations based onthe policies of the Trump Administration.” Following that announcement,

the President-Elect tweeted, “Great move on delay (by V. Putin) - I always knew he was very

smart!”

On December31, 2016, Kislyak called Flynn and told him that Flynn’s request had been

received at the highest levels and Russia had chosennotto retaliate in response to the request.”
Later that day, Flynn told McFarlandaboutthis follow-up conversation with Kislyak and Russia’s

decision not to escalate the sanctionssituation based on Flynn’s request.”” McFarland recalled

that Flynn thought his phone call had made a difference.** Flynn spoke with other incoming

Administration officials that day, but does not recall whether they discussed the sanctions.”

Flynn recalled discussing the sanctions issue with incoming Administration official

Stephen Bannon the next day.' Flynn said that Bannon appeared to know about Flynn’s
conversations with Kislyak, and he and Bannonagreed that they had “stopped the train on Russia’s

response”to the sanctions.'°' On January 3, 2017, Flynn saw the President-Elect in person and
thought they discussed the Russian reaction to the sanctions, but Flynn did not have a specific

recollection oftelling the President-Elect aboutthe substanceofhis calls with Kislyak.'

Membersofthe intelligence community were surprised by Russia’s decision notto retaliate

in responseto the sanctions.'°? When analyzing Russia’s response, they became aware of Flynn’s

discussion of sanctions with Kislyak.'“ Previously, the FBI had openedaninvestigation ofFlynn
based onhisrelationship with the Russian government.'® Flynn’s contacts with Kislyak became

a key componentofthat investigation!

* Statement by the President ofRussia, President of Russia (Dec. 30, 2016) 12/30/16.

® @realDonaldTrump 12/30/16 (2:41 p.m. ET) Tweet.

6 Flynn 1/19/18 302, at 3; Flynn Statement of Offense,at 3.

7 Flynn 1/19/18 302, at 3; Flynn 11/17/17 302, at 6; McFarland 12/22/17 302, at 10; Flynn
Statement of Offense,at 3.

%8 McFarland 12/22/17 302, at 10; see Flynn 1/19/18 302,at 4.

® Flynn 11/17/17 302,at 5-6.

'00 Flynn 1/19/18 302, at 4-5. Bannonrecalled meeting with Flynn that day, but said he did not
rememberdiscussing sanctions with him. Bannon 2/12/18 302, at 9.

11 Flynn 11/21/17 302,at 1; Flynn 1/19/18 302,at S.

102 Flynn 1/19/18 302, at 6; Flynn 11/17/17 302,at 6.

193 McCord 7/17/17 302,at 2.

14 McCord 7/17/17 302,at 2.

195 McCord 7/17/17 302, at 2-3; Comey 11/15/17 302,at 5.

106 McCord 7/17/17 302,at 2-3.
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2. President-Elect Trumpis Briefed on the Intelligence Community’s Assessment

of Russian Interference in the Election and Congress Opens Election-

Interference Investigations

On January 6, 2017, as noted in VolumeII, Section II.A.4, supra, intelligence officials

briefed President-Elect Trump and the incoming Administration on the intelligence community’s

assessment that Russia had interfered in the 2016 presidential election.'°? When the briefing
concluded, Comey spoke with the President-Elect privately to brief him on unverified, personally
sensitive allegations compiled by Steele.’"8 According to a memorandum Comey drafted
immediately after their private discussion, the President-Elect began the meetingby telling Comey

he had conducted himself honorably over the prior year and had a great reputation.The
President-Elect stated that he thought highly of Comey, looked forward to working with him, and
hopedthat he plannedto stay on as FBI director.'!° Comey respondedthat he intended to continue

serving in that role.!!! Comey then briefed the President-Elect on the sensitive material in the
Steele reporting.''? Comeyrecalled that the President-Elect seemed defensive, so Comey decided

'°7 Hearing on Russian Election Interference Before the Senate Select Intelligence Committee,
115th Cong. (June 8, 2017) (Statement for the Record of James B. Comey, former Director of the FBI, at
1-2).

'8 Comey 11/15/17 302, at 3; Hearing on Russian Election Interference Before the Senate Select
Intelligence Committee, 115th Cong. (June 8, 2017) (Statement for the Record of James B. Comey, former
Director of the FBI, at 1-2).

109 Comey 1/7/17 Memorandum,at 1. Comey begandrafting the memorandum summarizing the
meeting immediately after it occurred. Comey 11/15/17 302, at 4. He finished the memorandum that
evening and finalized it the following morning. Comey 11/15/17 302, at 4.

"© Comey 1/7/17 Memorandum,at 1; Comey 11/15/17 302, at 3. Comeyidentified several other
occasions in January 2017 whenthe Presidentreiterated that he hoped Comey would stay on as FBI director.
On January 11, President-Elect Trump called Comeyto discuss the Steele reports and stated that he thought
Comey was doing great and the President-Elect hoped he would remain in his position as FBI director.
Comey 11/15/17 302, at 4; Hearing on Russian Election Interference Before the Senate Select Intelligence
Committee, 115th Cong. (June 8, 2017) (testimony of James B. Comey, former Director of the FBI), CQ
Cong.Transcripts, at 90. (“[D]uring that call, he asked me again, ‘Hope you’re goingto stay, you’re doing
a great job.’ And told him that I intended to.”). On January 22, at a White House reception honoring law
enforcement, the President greeted Comey andsaid he looked forward to working with him. Hearing on
Russian Election Interference Before the Senate SelectIntelligence Committee, 115th Cong. (June 8, 2017)
(testimony of James B. Comey, former Director of the FBI), CQ Cong. Transcripts, at 22, And as discussed
in greater detail in VolumeII, Section II.D, infra, on January 27, the President invited Comey to dinnerat
the White House and said he was glad Comey wanted to stay on as FBI Director.

‘| Comey 1/7/17 Memorandum,at 1; Comey 11/15/17 302,at3.

"2 Comey 1/7/17 Memorandum,at 1-2; Comey 11/15/17 302, at 3. Comey’s briefing included the
Steele reporting’s unverified allegation that the Russians had compromisingtapesofthe President involving
conduct whenhe wasa private citizen during a 2013 trip to Moscowfor the Miss Universe Pageant. During
the 2016 presidential campaign,a similar claim may have reached candidate Trump. On October 30, 2016,
Michael Cohenreceived text from Russian businessman Giorgi Rtskhiladze that said, “Stopped flow of
tapes from Russia but not sure if there’s anything else. Just so you know... .” 10/30/16 Text Message,
Rtskhiladze to Cohen. Rtskhiladze said “tapes” referred to compromising tapes of Trump rumored to be
held by personsassociated with the Russian real estate conglomerate Crocus Group, which had helped host
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to assure him that the FBI was not investigating him personally.''? Comey recalled he did not

wantthe President-Elect to think of the conversation as a “J. Edgar Hoover move.”!!4

On January 10, 2017, the media reported that Comey had briefed the President-Elect on

the Steele reporting,''® and BuzzFeed Newspublished information compiled by Steele online,

stating that the information included “specific, unverified, and potentially unverifiable allegations

of contact between Trumpaides and Russian operatives.”''® The next day, the President-Elect

expressed concern to intelligence community leaders aboutthe fact that the information had leaked

and — whether they could make public statements refuting the allegations in the Steele

reports.

In the following weeks, three Congressional committees opened investigations to examine
Russia’s interference in the election and whether the Trump Campaign had colluded with

Russia.!'® On January 13, 2017, the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence (SSCI) announced
that it would conduct a bipartisan inquiry into Russian interference in the election, including any

“links between Russia and individuals associated with political campaigns.”''? On January 25,
2017, the House Permanent Select Committee on Intelligence (HPSCI) announcedthatit had been

conducting an investigation into Russian election interference and possible coordination with the

political campaigns.'”° And on February 2, 2017, the Senate Judiciary Committee announcedthat

it too would investigate Russian efforts to intervenein the election.'”!

the 2013 Miss Universe Pageant in Russia. Rtskhiladze 4/4/18 302, at 12. Cohen said he spoke to Trump
about the issue after receiving the texts from Rtskhiladze. Cohen 9/12/18 302, at 13. Rtskhiladze said he

wastold the tapes were fake, but he did not communicate that to Cohen. Rtskhiladze 5/10/18 302, at 7.

"3 Comey 11/15/17 302, at 3-4; Hearing on Russian Election Interference Before the Senate Select
Intelligence Committee, 115th Cong. (June 8, 2017) (Statement for the Record of James B. Comey, former
Director of the FBI, at 2).

"4 Comey 11/15/17 302,at 3.

"5 See, e.g., Evan Perez et al., Intel chiefs presented Trump with claims of Russian efforts to
compromise him, CNN (Jan. 10, 2017; updated Jan. 12, 2017).

"6 Ken Bensingeret al., These Reports Allege Trump Has Deep Ties To Russia, BuzzFeed News
(Jan. 10, 2017).

"7 See 1/11/17 Email, Clapper to Comey (“He asked if I could put out a statement. He wouldprefer
of course that I say the documents are bogus, which, of course, I can’t do.”); 1/12/17 Email, Comey to

Clapper (“He called me at 5 yesterday and we had a very similar conversation.”); Comey 11/15/17 302,at
4-5,

"8 See 2016 Presidential Election Investigation Fast Facts, CNN (first published Oct. 12, 2017;
updated Mar. 1, 2019) (summarizing starting dates of Russia-related investigations).

"19 Joint Statement on Committee Inquiry into Russian Intelligence Activities, SSCI (Jan. 13, 2017).

120 Joint Statement on Progress ofBipartisan HPSCIInquiry into Russian Active Measures, HPSCI
(Jan. 25, 2017).

"21 Joint Statementfrom Senators Graham and Whitehouse on Investigation into Russian Influence

on Democratic Nations’ Elections (Feb. 2, 2017).
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